IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

| DANA WILLIAMSON, |) | |
|-------------------|-----|---------------------------|
| Appellant, |)) | |
| v. |) | |
| |) | CASE NO. SC11-2198 |
| STATE OF FLORIDA, |) | L.T. NO. 92-15642 CFA |
| |) | |
| Appellee. |) | |
| |) | |
| | | |

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit in and for Broward County, Florida

KEVIN J. KULIK, ESQUIRE

Florida Bar Number 475841 500 Southwest Third Street Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33315 Telephone (954) 761-9411 Facsimile (954) 767-4750 Attorney for Appellant

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is an appeal of the denial of postconviction relief after the remand in *Williamson v. State*, 994 So.2d 1000 (Fla. 2008). Appellant, Dana Williamson ("Williamson"), was defendant in the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Broward County, Florida. Appellee, State of Florida ("the State"), was plaintiff. References to the transcript of the evidentiary hearing on remand are indicated by the symbol "HT" followed by pertinent page number(s), and encased in parentheses. References to the original Trial Transcript will be designated by the symbol "TT" followed the appropriate page number(s), and encased in parentheses.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction in this capital case. Art. V, § 3(b)(1), Fla. Const.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

"Because both prongs of the *Strickland* [v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052 (1984)] test present mixed questions of law and fact, this Court employs a mixed standard of review, deferring to the circuit court's factual findings that are supported by competent, substantial evidence, but reviewing the circuit court's legal conclusions *de novo*." *Coleman v. State*, 64 So.3d 1210, 1217 (Fla. 2011).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On February 19, 1994, Appellant, Dana Williamson, was convicted of first degree murder, armed burglary, extortion, four counts of armed robbery, five counts of armed kidnapping, and three counts of attempted first degree murder. Williamson was sentenced to death for the 1988 killing of Donna Decker. (TT 3203-04).

In 1988, Donna and Bob Decker resided in Davie, Florida, with their infant son, Carl. (TT 577, 1012). Bob Decker owned a construction business at the time. On the night of November 4, 1988, Bob, Carl, and Clyde Decker (Bob's father from out of town) returned home to find Charles Panoyan ("Panoyan") in the driveway. (TT 581, 1158). Panoyan was the Deckers' acquaintance and occasional employee. He had assisted in the construction of Decker's home and knew its dimensions and alarm system. Bob Decker testified Panoyan rarely came to the home, and that Decker was surprised to see him. (TT 646, 1023, 1158). The Deckers greeted Panoyan in the driveway and they all went inside. (TT 583, 1162, 2105).

Panoyan then abruptly said he had to go outside to get some deer meat he had forgotten to bring in. (TT 583, 1159). When Panoyan returned a moment later, Clyde Decker helped him put the deer meat in the kitchen. (TT 583, 1061, 2105). Upon returning to the living room, they confronted a man with a gun wearing a

mask and a straw cowboy hat. (TT 583, 1061). Bob Decker first thought it was a practical joke pulled by Panoyan, but soon discovered otherwise. (TT 583, 1061). The Deckers were taken to the master bedroom, handcuffed and bound. (TT 584, 1167). Panoyan claimed he was hog-tied in the family room, but showed no marks or burns when examined by police. (TT 584, 649, 659, 1171, 2345). Bob Decker stated he had caught a glimpse of Panoyan talking to the gunman. (TT 1067, 1172).

Meanwhile, Donna Decker arrived home from work, was overpowered by the intruders (TT 584), and tied up. (TT 585, 1077, 1179). Bob and Donna were questioned about the location of their money and were forced to sign a legal form. (TT 603, 1062, 1084, 1087). Donna was stabbed to death after putting up a struggle. (TT 591, 1191). Bob, Carl, and Clyde were each shot in the head with a 22-caliber revolver. (TT 587-88, 1132). Bob, Carl and Clyde, however, all survived. (TT 589, 1191). Panoyan, who was unharmed, eventually called police. (TT 592, 1184).

Panoyan, initially the prime suspect (TT 613), never mentioned Williamson to police. (TT 613, 2173). A belt and handcuff key, which fit the handcuffs used on Bob Decker (TT 610, 2694, 2697), were found in Panoyan's truck. (TT 612). Neither Williamson's finger prints nor blood were found at the scene. (TT 661, 662).

In 1989, police got an anonymous tip that Williamson was the assailant, and not Panoyan. (TT 613, 2169). Before this tip, police did not deem Williamson a suspect (TT 613). Police went to Ohio to speak with him. (TT 613, 1337). Asked about a cowboy hat at the scene, Williamson said he once had a similar hat. (TT 664, 2783, 2696, 3026). Police arrested Williamson and Panoyan. (TT 666, 1382, 2172).

Panoyan was released on his own recognizance when he made a statement to police that Williamson was the gunman (TT 667, 2138, 2212), becoming the State's chief witness, and testifying that Williamson was the killer, that he let Panoyan live as he was friends with Williamson's father (TT 2329), that he had no involvement in the crimes, and was coerced into silence by threats from Williamson. (TT 2123-24).

The State introduced evidence concerning Williamson's 1975 conviction as a minor for manslaughter. (TT 1546, 2147). The record shows this evidence was introduced to bolster Panoyan's claims that he had reason to believe threats allegedly made by Williamson to induce his silence. The State also proffered the testimony of three jail house informants serving time for felony convictions (TT 1537, 1915, 2487), who testified that Williamson had admitted the acts. (TT 1930, 1915, 2487).

Other than Panoyan's testimony, the evidence was circumstantial, including a deed executed by Williamson to show his knowledge of legal forms (TT 1472), the

cowboy hat and a utility belt similar to a belt found at the scene. (TT 2783, 3026). The jury returned guilty verdicts on 14 counts (TT 3212-13; 2899). The trial court sentenced Williamson to death for the murder of Donna Decker. (T 3203-04).

This Court affirmed Willamson's judgment and death sentence, *Williamson v. State*, 681 So. 2d 688 (Fla. 1996), and he moved for post-conviction relief, alleging:

a. Ineffectiveness of Defense Counsel

WILLIAMSON WAS DENIED THE EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL GUARANTEED BY THE SIXTH & FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND ARTICLE I, SECTIONS 9 & 16 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION WHEN DEFENSE COUNSEL:

- I. FAILED TO OBJECT TO THE STATE'S OPENING STATEMENT WHICH CONSTITUTED IMPERMISSIBLE "GOLDEN RULE" ARGUMENT AND BOLSTERED THE CREDIBILITY OF THE STATE'S KEY WITNESS;
- II. FAILED TO OBJECT TO THE ADMISSION OF A WRITTEN WAIVER OF IMMUNITY BY THE STATE'S KEY WITNESS DESPITE THE STATE'S FAILURE TO EARLIER DISCLOSE THE WAIVER DURING DISCOVERY AND DESPITE THE COURT'S FAILURE TO HOLD AN ADEQUATE RICHARDSON HEARING;
- III. FAILED TO IMPEACH THE STATE'S SOLE EYE-WITNESS IDENTIFICATION USING THE WITNESS' ORIGINAL STATEMENTS TO POLICE IN WHICH THE WITNESS CLAIMED NOT TO HAVE KNOWN THE PERPETRATOR;

- IV. FAILED TO VOIR DIRE THE STATE'S EXPERT WITNESS ON "INFLUENCE AND CONTROL" WHOSE EXPERT TESTIMONY WOULD NOT ASSIST THE JURY, OBVIATING THE REQUIREMENT OF HOLDING A FRYE HEARING OR OF MAKING A SHOWING OF ANY INDICIA OF RELIABILITY FOR THIS NOVEL SCIENCE:
- V. FAILED TO REQUEST A CURATIVE INSTRUCTION AFTER THE COURT SUSTAINED A DEFENSE OBJECTION TO TESTIMONY BY THE STATE'S EXPERT WITNESS ON "INFLUENCE AND CONTROL" WHO VOUCHED FOR THE CREDIBILITY OF THE STATE'S KEY WITNESS BY EXPRESSING AN EXPERT OPINION THAT THE WITNESS' THREE-YEAR DELAY IN CHANGING HIS STORY TO INCRIMINATE WILLIAMSON FOR THE FIRST TIME WAS CAUSED BY A "CREDIBLE THREAT":
- VI. FAILED TO OBJECT TO THE STATE'S UNFAIRLY PRE-JUDICIAL CLOSING ARGUMENT IN WHICH THE STATE:
 - a. TOLD JURORS "YOU BETTER BELIEVE THAT WE FILED THESE CHARGES BECAUSE IT'S WARRANTED";
 - b. VOUCHED FOR THE CREDIBILITY OF THE STATE'S KEY WITNESS BY CHARACTERIZING THREATS THE STATE WITNESS TESTIFIED WILLIAMSON MADE AS "BELIEVABLE THREATS";
 - c. DISCUSSED TESTIMONY OF "ANOTHER WITNESS THAT YOU DIDN'T HEAR FROM BECAUSE HE'S A CHILD AND A BABY" THAT HE HAD SEEN HIS MOTHER MURDERED;

- VII. FAILED TO OBJECT TO THE STATE'S CHARACTERIZATION OF THE OFFENSE AS "INEXCUSABLE" DESPITE THE JURY'S INSTRUCTION ON EXCUSABLE HOMICIDE;
- VIII. FAILED TO OBJECT TO THE STATE'S ARGUMENT DURING PENALTY PHASE OPENING STATEMENTS THAT THE EVIDENCE IN MITIGATION CONSTITUTED MERE "EXCUSES"
- IX. COUNSEL'S UNAUTHORIZED CONCESSION OF WILLIAMSON'S GUILT DURING THE PENALTY PHASE CONSTITUTED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE

b. Fundamental Error

THE LIKELIHOOD THAT THE VERDICTS IN COUNTS II THRU IV RESTED ON THE STATE'S ALTERNATIVE THEORY OF ATTEMPTED FIRST DEGREE FELONY MURDER [A NON-EXISTENT OFFENSE AT THE TIME THIS CASE BECAME FINAL ON DIRECT APPEAL] CONSTITUTES FUNDAMENTAL ERROR:

- X. REQUIRING THE JUDGMENTS AND SENTENCES FOR ATTEMPTED MURDER BE VACATED AND SET ASIDE;
- XI. REQUIRING A NEW PENALTY PHASE TRIAL UNDER THE EIGHTH AMENDMENT AS THESE CONVICTIONS TIPPED THE JURY'S SCALES IN FAVOR OF DEATH

(PCR 525-576). The trial court summarily denied Williamson's postconviction motion (PCR 803-839), and Williamson appealed. (PCR 840).

This Court vacated Williamson's attempted first degree murder convictions due to the legal non-existence of one of the State's theories of guilt, and remanded for postconviction evidentiary hearings on "the claims pertaining to Dr. Ofshe." Williamson v. State, 994 So.2d 1000, 1017 (Fla. 2008). At trial, the State had called Sociology Professor Richard Ofshe as an expert in "extreme techniques of influence and control" in order to bolster the testimony of Charles Panoyan. When Williamson's trial counsel declined the trial court's invitation to voir dire Dr. Ofshe, and failed to request a Frye hearing, the trial court declared Dr. Ofshe an expert in that field. (T 2231). Williamson v. State, 994 So.2d at 1009. This Court quoted Ofshe's testimony in its opinion remanding for evidentiary hearings:

Williamson v. State, 681 So.2d 688, 695 (Fla. 1996).

¹ Charles Panoyan, the sole original suspect and former co-defendant who, three (3) years after the crimes, including eighteen (18) months in jail, belatedly turned State's witness, claiming Williamson had threatened him not to identify him, and was immediately released and dropped from the Indictment. As this Court noted in its opinion affirming Williamson's convictions on direct appeal:

[[]I]t was clear that Panoyan's credibility was a material issue on which the State's case depended. Panoyan was the State's key witness. Defense counsel, through his opening statement and cross-examination of the State's witnesses, had emphasized that Robert Decker saw Panoyan whispering to the gunman during the criminal episode; that Panoyan was the only person at the Decker house to be released unharmed; that police had considered Panoyan to be a suspect from the time of the criminal episode; and that Panoyan did not identify appellant as the assailant until three years after the criminal episode.

[I]n reviewing the history of Mr. Panoyan's experience in connection with the invasion and the death and the assaults at the Decker residence, and over the course of the investigation that followed, including his incarceration and ultimate decision to speak about what happened, the pattern that he displays is a pattern of someone who has, for one [sic] of a better word, been terrorized, and someone who is acting in response to a credible threat, not only to himself, but also, and to some degree, more importantly, to members of his family. And that the manner in which he responds at various points indicates quite clearly that he has a great concern about something happening to his family, which he revealed to me in the interview I did with him, and I gather, revealed again in testimony that you heard. And there is a sequence over the course of his involvement that's consistent with this, including who (sic) he tried to compromise between the fear that he had for himself, the fear that he had for his family and his desire to aid the Decker family. The point at which he chose to do certain things reflects the kind of threat and fear he was acting under, and the particular decisions that he made to me are completely consistent with what he says about the sort of threats that he was exposed to.

Williamson v. State, 994 So.2d at 1017. This Court's opinion framed the three "claims pertaining to Dr. Ofshe," remanded for postconviction evidentiary hearing:

[T]rial counsel was ineffective because counsel [1] failed to *voir dire* State expert Dr. Ofshe, [2] failed to request a *Frye* hearing for the novel science upon which Dr. Ofshe relied, and [3] failed to request a curative instruction after the trial court sustained objections to Dr. Ofshe's testimony.

Williamson v. State, 994 So.2d at 1008 (bracketed numerals added).

TESTIMONY AT EVIDENTIARY HEARINGS ON REMAND

On remand, evidentiary hearings were held September 22 and 23, 2010, on Williamson's postconviction motion as to "the claims pertaining to Dr. Ofshe." *Williamson v. State*, 994 So.2d 1000, 1017 (Fla. 2008). A review of the testimony adduced at the evidentiary hearings before the trial court on remand follows:

Dr. Richard Ofshe (Sociologist Who Gave Expert Opinion Testimony at Trial)

The State called Dr. Richard Ofshe, who recalled testifying at Williamson's trial about "influences of death threats on behavior" which is "a catch-all phrase that I invented for convenience sake." (HT 8-9). Asked what underlying social science principals are involved in his area of expertise, Dr. Ofshe replied "principals of rational decision-making," which is "the foundation for all social science." (HT 9). Asked how long "principals of rational decision-making" have been around, Dr. Ofshe answered: "We would really have to go back and look at the history of philosophy, and certainly the history of economics, to answer that question," though "it runs into the hundreds of years." (HT 11). Ofshe continued, "some of my other work has to do with building what's called a mathematical model, for decision-making, for how it is that people respond to an environment, in

which certain things happen with certain probabilities and other things happening with other probabilities, and the issue is to try to maximize their return in that environment, and see whether or not one can develop a simple formula that predicts how they will allocate their behavior. Now, that's in a highly verified laboratory setting, and that's the work that underlies one of my earlier publications, when I was still working on rational decision theory, and going to social interaction, which there was a volume of reports in that research. That kind of decision-making, in an abstract environment, a highly verified environment, is the kind of thing that studies and tests the theories of decision-making. One would then take the assumption that people are being rational, and now apply it with particular circumstances, as they apply it in the world, trying to understand how people cope with, deal with, react to the particular things facing them."(HT 11-12).

Under the State's questioning as to whether his testimony constituted "syndrome testimony," Dr. Ofshe stated that "syndrome is not something I utilize in any way." (HT 13).² Asked what he meant by "pattern" when he testified at Williamson's trial, Ofshe gave an example of a case in which another person was threatened with death, his family threatened with death, and he was told there was

² It is the law of the case, however, that Dr. Ofshe's testimony in this regard constituted "syndrome testimony." *Williamson v. State*, 994 So.2d at 1010.

no way to escape the threat, and stated: "I was analogizing Mr. Panoyan's situation to another situation which I had given, and they were quite similar." (HT 14).

During Williamson's postconviction counsel's *voir dire* of Dr. Ofshe at the remand (a *voir dire* never conducted at trial), the following exchange occurred:

[DEFENSE]: Well, we can assume, I think, that any normal person, when they receive a credible threat of death, it's going to influence their behavior.

[DR. OFSHE]: I would think that's a fair statement.

[DEFENSE]: It's not something that would be generally needed to be testified about?

[DR. OFSHE]: About that, I don't know.

(HT 17). Of she also testified on *voir dire*: "for the last 20 some odd years, the bulk of my work is in the area of influence during police interrogations." (HT 18-19).

Dr. Ofshe agreed he was aware of cases where jailhouse informants have been shown to have testified falsely and that it is possible Panoyan's motivation for changing his story was that of a jailhouse informant's (HT 19-21); that what he would have testified about at Williamson's trial was "that the account he gave me

³ Though Dr. Ofshe testified on *voir dire* at the evidentiary hearing that for about 20 years the bulk of his work has been on influence in police interrogations (HT 18-19), the State objected: "he is not testifying about false confessions in this case, Judge. This is totally irrelevant, it's another area. It's irrelevant." (HT 32).

was consistent with other accounts given by people postulating some of those circumstances" (HT 22); that the method he used in reaching his opinion was "looking for corroboration of things that are part of the account or part of the confession" (HT 25); and that he did not consider the alternative theory that Panoyan was changing his identification story to get out of jail and the capital murder charge, much like a jailhouse informant (HT 25-27). Dr. Ofshe became defensive and evasive when asked about the American Sociological Association's and American Psychological Association's rejection of his theories. (HT 28-31).

Dr. Ofshe stated that he was in a better position than the jury to view the effect of a death threat on Panoyan "[b]ecause of my knowledge of the literature, and the particular investigations that I have done involving people who were in fact subjected to those kinds of conditions." (HT 33-34). When asked how he had any "measure of reliability for making those statements," Dr. Ofshe stated:

Well, my reliability has to do with whether or not I'm a liar. And since I know I'm telling the truth, I don't know what reliability would go, would go beyond that.

(HT 34-35). The following exchange then took place:

[DEFENSE]: What about the alternate theory of Mr. Panoyan, that he was essentially doing it, and creating his testimony to get out of jail, that's also a rational theory, would you agree?

[STATE]: Objection, Your Honor, it's taking facts out of context.

[THE COURT]: Overruled.

[DEFENSE]: Go ahead.

[DR. OFSHE]: That theory, it's a possibility, it could have been evaluated, if someone wanted to evaluate it, if someone wanted to propose it, then they could have proposed it, whether to me, or to somebody else. Nobody proposed it to me. Nobody asked me to think about it. Nobody asked me to analyze it, so, it's not part of anything that I did in relation to this case.

(HT 35). The State brought out the number of times Dr. Ofshe has "testified as an expert in any type of sociological field," tendering him "as an expert in the field that he is testifying," and (unlike counsel at trial) the defense objected (HT 37-38), pointing out the lack of any scientific or empirical basis for his testimony, and that "any average juror is able to decide whether the person is testifying due to a credible death threat, or whether they are a jailhouse informant." (HT 39-42).

When the State argued that whether there was any scientific or empirical basis for Ofshe's testimony was "irrelevant" (HT 42-44), the defense noted Ofshe

seeks to testify "that he is an expert . . . to tell us about how a certain person is acting, because of a credible threat, versus being an informant"; that there is no "study, that has any empirical data, that's there's any rational human being who couldn't figure this out"; and that the "jury is the one to accept the credibility of the statement, and to make their decision" (HT 45-47). The State termed the defense position that the jury should have decided if Panoyan was a jailhouse informant motivated by release and freedom from the death penalty, a "contrived poppycock argument," arguing for the veracity of the State's theory at trial, as well as Dr. Ofshe's testimony, whereupon the trial court ordered a recess. (HT 47-48).

After a recess and review of the opinion remanding this case, the trial court stated it would "need to hear from the other (sic) psychologists, before I can determine whether or not Dr. Ofshe is an expert that can be qualified to testify about that which he testified to at trial, as opposed to an expert with regards to sociology" (HT 50) reserving ruling on Ofshe's qualification as an expert. (HT 51).

Asked the "underlying principles of [his] testimony," Dr. Ofshe replied: "The principle is simply that rewards and punishment affect behavior and decision-making, people act based on perceptions of the situation in which they find themselves, and you then connect that to the particularity of whatever it is that you

are looking at" (HT 56), adding: "I think that anyone understands that a death threat is a quite powerful threat, but I don't really think people have an appreciation how they would behave faced with that kind of threat," since "I doubt that you find many people that say, oh, yeah, that happens to me once a week or anything like that" (HT 57). The State then inquired as follows:

[STATE]: And with respect to Panoyan and the fact that you found him credible, and in your opinion, you found him credible, based on your experience?

[DR. OFSHE]: I focused on his behavior, and what he described was consistent with other accounts that I had gotten from people over the years about how they reacted under somewhat similar circumstances.

(HT 74-75). Asked whether he knew of an agreement wherein Panoyan would go free for his testimony against Williamson, Dr. Ofshe stated: "Well, I believe there was an agreement between Mr. Cavanagh and Mr. Panoyan's lawyer" (HT 68).

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