IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC11-2198

DANA WILLIAMSON,

Appellant,

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA, (Criminal Division)

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

Lisa-Marie Lerner Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No.: 698271 1515 N. Flagler Drive #900 West Palm Beach, FL 33401 Telephone: (561) 837-5000 Facsimile: (561) 837-5108

Counsel for Appellee

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court properly denied relief on the claims of ineffective assistance of counsel and its findings were supported by competent substantial evidence which showed that counsel's performance was not deficient nor could Williamson demonstrate the necessary prejudice required by <u>Strickland</u>.

The evidence adduced at the preliminary hearing demonstrated that trial counsel made a reasoned decision not to voir dire because he thought it was apparent that the State's case was weak and the jury would see the expert in a negative light. The hearing further demonstrated that the standards used by Dr. Ofshe at the trial did meet the requirements of Frye and were broadly accepted in the community of psychology, psychiatry, and sociology. Consequently, the trial court properly allowed the testimony and counsel could not be ineffective for failing to object to admissible evidence. Further, the trial record and that of the evidentiary hearing showed that no objectionable testimony was admitted or allowed after trial counsel objected to an improper question and the court sustained the objection. Since no objectionable evidence came before the jury, no curative instruction was necessary and counsel was not deficient for failing to request one. Finally, Williamson failed to meet the prejudice prong in any of the sub-claims as required under Strickland. This Court should affirm the denial of relief.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED WILLIAMSON POST-CONVICTION RELIEF AFTER AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING IN FINDING THAT TRIAL COUNSEL WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE. (Restated)

Williamson argues that his trial counsel was ineffective in the following three ways: for failing to voir dire the State's expert, Dr. Richard Dr. Ofshe, on his qualifications as an expert; for failing to request a <u>Frye</u> hearing on Dr. Ofshe's testimony; and for failing to request a curative jury instruction.

The standard of review for ineffectiveness claims following an evidentiary hearing is *de novo*, with deference given the court's factual findings. "For ineffective assistance of counsel claims raised in postconviction proceedings, the appellate court affords deference to findings of fact based on competent, substantial evidence, and independently reviews deficiency and prejudice as mixed questions of law and fact." Freeman v. State, 858 So.2d 319, 323 (Fla. 2003).

... we review the deficiency and prejudice prongs as mixed questions of law and fact subject to a de novo review standard but ... the trial court's factual findings are to be given deference. So long as the [trial court's] decisions are supported by competent, substantial evidence, this Court will not substitute its judgment for that of the trial court on questions of fact and, likewise, on the credibility of the witnesses and the weight to be given to the evidence.

<u>Arbelaez v. State</u>, 898 So.2d 25, 32 (Fla. 2005). <u>See Reed v. State</u>, 875 So.2d 415 (Fla. 2004); <u>State v. Riechmann</u>, 777 So. 2d 342 (Fla. 2000).

To prevail on an ineffectiveness claim, the defendant must prove (1) counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and (2), but for the deficiency, there is a reasonable probability the result of the proceeding would have been different. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 688-89 (1984).

First, the defendant must show that counsel's performance was deficient. This requires showing that counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the "counsel" guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment. Second, the defendant must show that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense. This requires showing that counsel's errors were so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable. Unless a defendant makes both showings, it cannot be said that the conviction or death sentence resulted from a breakdown in the adversary process that renders the result unreliable.

<u>Valle v. State</u>, 778 So.2d 960, 965 (Fla. 2001). At all times, the defendant bears the burden of proving counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, was not the result of a strategic decision, and that actual, substantial prejudice resulted from the deficiency. <u>See Strickland</u>; <u>Gamble v.</u> State, 877 So.2d 706, 711 (Fla. 2004).

In <u>Davis v. State</u>, 875 So.2d 359, 365 (Fla. 2003), this Court reiterated that the deficiency prong of <u>Strickland</u> requires the defendant establish counsel's

conduct was "outside the broad range of competent performance under prevailing professional standards." (citing Kennedy v. State, 547 So.2d 912, 913 (Fla. 1989)). With respect to performance, "judicial scrutiny must be highly deferential;" "every effort" must "be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight," "reconstruct the circumstances of counsel's challenged conduct," and "evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspective at the time." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689; Davis, 875 So.2d at 365. In assessing the claim, the Court must start from a "strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688-89. The ability to create a more favorable strategy years later does not prove deficiency. See Patton v. State, 784 So.2d 380 (Fla. 2000); Cherry v. State, 659 So.2d 1069 (Fla. 1995). "A court considering a claim of ineffectiveness of counsel need not make a specific ruling on the performance component of the test when it is clear that the prejudice component is not satisfied." Maxwell v. Wainwright, 490 So.2d 927 (Fla. 1986).

Expounding upon <u>Strickland</u>, the Supreme Court cautioned in <u>Wiggins v.</u> <u>Smith</u>, 539 U.S. 510, 533 (2003):

In finding that [the] investigation did not meet *Strickland*'s performance standards, we emphasize that *Strickland* does not require counsel to investigate every conceivable line of mitigating evidence no matter how unlikely the effort would be to assist the defendant at sentencing. Nor does *Strickland* require defense counsel to present mitigating evidence at sentencing in every case. Both conclusions would interfere with the "constitutionally protected independence of counsel" at the heart of

Strickland.... We base our conclusion on the much more limited principle that "strategic choices made after less than complete investigation are reasonable" only to the extent that "reasonable professional judgments support the limitations on investigation." ... A decision not to investigate thus "must be directly assessed for reasonableness in all the circumstances."

Wiggins, 539 U.S. at 533. From Williams v. Taylor, 529 U.S. 362 (2000), it is clear the focus is on what efforts were undertaken and why a strategy was chosen. Investigation (even non-exhaustive, preliminary) is not required for counsel reasonably to decline to investigate a line of defense thoroughly. See Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690-91 ("[s]trategic choices made after less than complete investigation are reasonable precisely to the extent the reasonable professional judgments support the limitations on investigation.").

1. & 2. Trial counsel was not deficient for failing to ask for a Frye hearing or for not doing voir dire since defense counsel made a reasoned decision not to challenge the expert, Dr. Ofshe's testimony was admissible even under Frye, and Williamson cannot show prejudice as required under Strickland.

After hearing and evaluating the testimony of Hammer at the evidentiary hearing, the trial court found that his performance was not deficient but was rather the product of strategy for handling Dr. Ofshe's testimony. On the claim that trial coursel was ineffective for not conducting voir dire on Dr. Ofshe or requesting a Frye hearing the trial court found:

This Court finds that Hammer carefully considered which course of conduct to pursue with regard to Dr. Ofshe's testimony, and ultimately made the strategic decision not to question Dr. Ofshe's qualifications or the usefulness of his testimony, and not to request a *Frye* hearing. He cannot be found to

have been ineffective simply because, with the benefit of hindsight, he would have made a different choice.

(PCR 451-52) The record clearly supports this finding. Williamson characterizes Hammer's decision as a "whim" (IB 33) but Hammer had prepared for Dr. Ofshe's testimony prior to trial. He specifically stated that he read Panoyan's statements the State gave Dr. Ofshe and all the other information Dr. Ofshe reviewed. Hammer knew what Dr. Ofshe was going to say and had time to reflect on how to handle it. He spoke to Dr. Ofshe before he testified which reinforced his belief that the testimony was worthless. Hammer testified that he did not put much credence in Dr. Ofshe's opinion, nor did he think the jury would either. (EH 138-39) (EH 138-39) He believed that Dr. Ofshe was so full of himself that the jury would be put off by his demeanor and statements. In fact, he thought that the fact the State put him on at all showed that it was "grasping at straws" which would be apparent to the jury. He made a reasoned decision at the time of the trial; his testimony that, in hindsight, he should have had a Frye hearing is the sort of second guessing that cannot be done when conducting a Strickland analysis. (EH 138-43) "[E]very effort" must "be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight," "reconstruct the circumstances of counsel's challenged conduct," and "evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspective at the time." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689; Davis, 875 So.2d 365; Chandler v. U.S.,

218 F.3d 1305, 1313 n.12 (11th Cir. 2000). Nor is that comment dispositive in determining whether he was ineffective at trial. Routly v. State, 590 So.2d 397, 401 n. 4 (Fla.1991)(An attorney's admission that he was ineffective is of little persuasion in determining effectiveness.) Furthermore, it is clear that Hammer considered which course of conduct to pursue with regards to Dr. Ofshe's testimony. His choice to emphasize the State's grasping at straws appears to have been a strategic choice and, thus, not ineffective. Arbelaez, 889 So.2d at 31-32; Orme v. State, 896 So.2d 725 (Fla. 2005)(agreeing "a defendant has the burden of proving that counsel's representation was unreasonable under prevailing professional norms and that the complained about conduct was not the result of a strategic decision"). Williamson has failed to demonstrate ineffectiveness.

This Court directed the trial court to hold a <u>Frye</u> hearing and to determine whether the testimony given by Dr. Ofshe met the <u>Frye</u> standards in order to assess whether the evidence prejudiced Williamson. Based upon the evidence presented at the hearing the State clearly showed that this type of testimony is based upon long established and widely accepted principles of sociology and psychology and is in no way new or novel. Further, all the experts agreed that such testimony was a proper topic for an expert in this field and would definitely assist the jury in analyzing the behavior and testimony of Panoyan. Finally, both Dr. Butts and Dr.

Brannon unreservedly agreed that Dr. Ofshe was a leading expert in the subject of human behavior in extreme and coercive settings; indeed, he helped write the "Hornbook" for it. After these experts testified it was apparent that a <u>Frye</u> hearing was not appropriate or required at all.

Courts in Florida follow the test set out in Frye v. United States, 293 F. 1013 (D.C.Cir.1923). "This test requires that the scientific principles undergirding this evidence be found by the trial court to be generally accepted by the relevant members of its particular field." Hadden v. State, 690 So.2d 573, 576 (Fla.1997). Courts should only utilize the Frye test in cases of new and novel scientific evidence. See, U.S. Sugar Corp. v. Henson, 823 So.2d 104 (Fla.2002); Brim v. State, 695 So.2d 268, 271-72 (Fla.1997). "By definition, the Frye standard only applies when an expert attempts to render an opinion that is based upon new or novel scientific techniques." U.S. Sugar, 823 So.2d at 109 (citing Ramirez v. State, 651 So.2d 1164, 1166-67 (Fla.1995)). Not all expert testimony must meet the Frye test in order to be admissible. See Flanagan v. State, 625 So.2d 827, 828 (Fla. 1993). On remand, a court should consider whether the scientific principle or discovery is generally accepted at the current time, rather than whether it was generally accepted at the time of the trial. See Brim, 695 So.2d at 275; Hadden, 690 So.2d at 579.

This Court was concerned that Dr. Ofshe was giving "syndrome testimony" since he used the word "pattern." Williamson, 994 So.2d at 1010. The trial court used the Frye standards in analyzing the testimony at the evidentiary hearing in determining if the principals Dr. Ofshe relied on were widely accepted in the psycholoical/pyschiatric communities, if he was an expert in the field, and if the testimony was beyond the knowledge of the common juror and would, therefore, assist them in their deliberations. Again, the Frye test requires that the scientific principles undergirding the evidence must be generally accepted by the relevant members of a particular field. This Court has defined "general acceptance" as meaning acceptance by a clear majority of the members of the relevant scientific community, with consideration by the trial court of both the quality and quantity of those opinions. Brim, 695 So.2d 268. The trial court found that Dr. Ofshe's testimony met the requirements set out in Frye:

The State clearly established at the evidentiary hearing that this type of testimony is based upon long-established and widely-accepted principles of sociology and psychology. Dr. Butts and Dr. Brannon testified that Dr. Ofshe's work is highly respected in the social science community (comprising sociologists, psychologists, and social psychologists), and is frequently relied upon by forensic and clinical psychologists as well as sociologists. Dr. Brannon testified that Dr. Ofshe's specific sociological principles regarding human behaviors in response to extreme coercion are generally accepted within the social science community and are part of the training and teaching in psychology. Therefore, this Court finds that the principles upon which Dr. Ofshe's testimony was based are generally accepted in the field.

(PCR 452-53) Again, the record fully supports this finding. Dr. Ofshe, Dr. Butts, and Dr. Brannon all said that the underlying principles used at the trial come from literature review along with standards derived from disciplined observation and interviews of individuals who had been subjected to extreme situations and behavior controls; they are widely accepted in the socio-psychological communities. (EH 7-11, 23-28, 56, 62-66, 70-71, 81, 86-89, 148-52, 158, 162-65, 178) Dr. Ofshe said that he used the word "pattern" because he believed, based on his knowledge and experience in the field, that Panoyan's behavior was analogous to other individuals' who believed they were under threat. (EH 13-14, 32-35, 71-72) All three experts also agreed that such testimony did not involve using or discussing a "syndrome," which is a group of symptoms that collectively characterize a disease or disorder. Dr. Ofshe just discussed typical human behavior in extreme situations with a number of similar variables. (EH 13-14, 86-87, 104, 159-61) Dr. Butts and Dr. Brannon distinguished child abuse and other syndromes from the type of situational behaviors used by Dr. Ofshe. In true syndromes, an individual has specific problems or symptoms caused by an event or a disease which will *persist* after the person is removed from the underlying situation. The types of behavior Dr. Ofshe spoke of cease when the triggering event or threat ceases; the person does not carry those behaviors on to more

ordinary situations. (EH 86-87, 159-61)

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